
 

 

 

 

Dare County Tourism Board Meeting 

December 19, 2024  

9 a.m. 
 
 
 
 

Curtis H. Creech Memorial Boardroom 
Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Administrative Offices 

One Visitors Center Circle, Manteo, NC 27954 



DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD MEETING 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 19, 2024 

9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

ONE VISITORS CENTER CIRCLE 

MANTEO, NC 27954 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

II. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

III. Approval of Agenda 

 

IV. Approval of Minutes from the November 21, 2024 Meeting 

 

V. Public Comments 

 

VI. Chair’s Remarks 

 

VII. Budget & Finance Report 

 

VIII. Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Updates 

 

IX. Old Business 

 

X. New Business 

1. Update Personnel Policy Per NCGS §143-805 

 

XI. Board Member Comments 

 

XII. Set Date, Time, and Place of Next Meeting      

 

XIII. Adjournment 

 



 

November 21,  2024 Dare County Tourism Board  1 

RECORD OF MINUTES 

DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2024 

9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

MANTEO, NC 27954 

 

 

ATTENDING:  Monica Thibodeau, Chair; David Hines, Vice Chair; Dennis Robinson, Assistant 

Treasurer; Mark Ballog, Terry Gray, Richard Hess, Tess Judge, Wally Overman, Mike Siers, and Jay 

Wheless, Legal Counsel.  

 

EXCUSED ABSENCE: Tod Clissold; Treasurer; Tonia Cohen, Secretary; Mark Batenic and John Head. 

 

STAFF: 

Lee Nettles, Executive Director  

Diane Bognich, Director of Administration 

Amy Wood, Clerk to the Board/Administrative Specialist  

Lorrie Love, Tourism Sales and Events Manager  

Aaron Tuell, Public Relations Manager 

Jeff Schwartzenberg, Community Engagement Manager 

 

OTHERS ATTENDING: Luke Halton, OBX Way; Jack McCombs Chief Master Sergeant, USAF 

(Retired), Carol McCombs, and Rita Seeliq Ayers, US Air Force Heritage Memorial to Memorial Bicycle 

Event.   

 

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.  The Board then recited the pledge of allegiance, followed 

by a moment of silence.  

 

Vice Chair David Hines led the meeting until the arrival of Chair Thibodeau. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Ms. Judge moved to approve the agenda. Second by Mr. Gray. There was 

no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (8-0). 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Mr. Gray moved to approve the meeting minutes from October 17, 2024 

meeting.  Second by Mr. Hess.  There was no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (8-0). 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: Jack McCombs made a presentation about the Memorial to Memorial Bicycle 

Event (on file).  

 

Chair Thibodeau arrived at 9:20 a.m. 

 

STEERING/CHAIR’S REPORT: Lee Nettles and Diane Bognich reviewed the Tourism Impact Grant 

(TIG) process and the work of the Committee; asking to exclude the recommended award for the Traffic 

Light in the Town of Nags Head as the Town and North Carolina Department of Transportation were 

working on another option for the traffic light.  

 

Mr. Siers moved to exclude the Nags Head Traffic Light from the recommended awards.  Second by Mr. 

Hines.  There was no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (9-0). 

 

 



 

November 21,  2024 Dare County Tourism Board  2 

STEERING/CHAIR’S REPORT (continued):  The Board reviewed the following recommended TIG 

awards:  

 

Organization Project 
Project 

Amount 

Recommended 

Award 

Avon Property Owners 

Assoc. 

Boardwalk replacement of public beach 

accesses on Antillas and Gull Cry Roads 

$94,200.00 $54,000.00 

Chicamacomico Historical 

Assoc. 

1874 Life Saving Station, Phase II $169,250.00 $125,000.00 

Dare County Arts Council 50 Years on the Outer Banks, panel 

printing 

$130,000.00 $4,000.00 

Friends of Jockey’s Ridge Points of Interest Trail Markers $75,000.00 $50,000.00 

Town of Kill Devil Hills West Martin & Swan Street Sidewalks $484,935.00 $240,000.00 

Town of Kitty Hawk Message Board $27,490.00 $27,490.00 

Crosswalk Lighting on Beach Road $40,000.00 $40,000.00 

Town of Manteo Cartwright Park Improvements $500.000.00 $250,000.00 

Town of Nags Head 

W. Baymeadow Drive Sidewalk $70,850.00 $53,137.00 

Living Shoreline 

*award contingent on no impacts to 

permits and construction of Soundside 

Boardwalk  

$450,000.00 $100,000.00* 

  

W. Windjammer Sidewalk $165,450.00 $124,087.00 

Town of Southern Shores NC 12 Multi Use Path $185,950.28 $91,533.67 

    

 Total Recommended Award Amount  $1,159,247.67 

 

Mr. Hines moved to accept the recommended TIG awards as presented. Second by Mr. Gray.  There was 

no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (9-0). 

 

BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT: reviewed the meals and occupancy receipts received.  Receipts 

for fiscal year 2024-2025 were up .34% compared to 2023-2024. 

 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU UPDATES:   

Lee Nettles noted: 

• Printing and distribution of the 2025 Official Outer Banks Travel Guide 

• The 2024 Tourism Summit was successful.  He thanked Lorrie Love and staff for their hard work 

in putting together the summit. The Board discussed the summit, particularly the Outer Edge long 

form videos and plans for those to be shared publicly.  

• New features on outerbanks.org include a booking engine and AI assistant for trip planning 

• Marketing Dashboard and visitation 

 

Jeff Schwartzenberg reviewed the last Long Range Tourism Management Plan Special Committee 

meeting of 2024. The Committee will resume meeting in January 2025.  He also noted the 2024 State of 

Tourism booklet. 

 

Lorrie Love noted upcoming travel marketplaces and events at the Soundside Event site.  

 
Aaron Tuell noted current and upcoming media coverage for the Outer Banks. 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  There was no old business before the Board. 



 

November 21,  2024 Dare County Tourism Board  3 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  Lee Nettles noted the letter of support for the Dare County Housing Task Force’s 

application to participate in the Carolina Across 100 “Our State, Our Homes” program. 
 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS:  The Chair gave kudos to the staff for the Tourism Summit, noting 

the Pioneer Theater and the Town of Manteo were great locations for the summit.  

 

Ms. Judge asked if there was any new information on Western North Carolina.  Lee Nettles noted that, at 

the most recent North Carolina Travel and Tourism Board, counties in the western region were grappling 

with how to attract visitors to the areas that were open and ready to have visitors without impacting those 

area that were not.  

 

Mr. Ballog noted the 12 Bars of Christmas and the Misfit Bars of Christmas kick off. 

 
Mr. Hess reviewed the Outer Banks Seafood Festival, which was well attended. 

 

 

SET DATE, TIME, AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING:  The next meeting is scheduled for 

Thursday, December 19, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. at the Curtis H. Creech Boardroom, Outer Banks Visitors 

Bureau Administrative Offices, One Visitors Center Circle, Manteo, NC.  

 

The Chair asked if there was any further business before the Board. Hearing none, the Chair adjourned 

the meeting at 10:35 a.m. 

 

 

 

ATTESTED: 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 
Clerk, Dare County Tourism Board 



$0

$50,000,000

$100,000,000

$150,000,000

$200,000,000

$250,000,000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

2024 15,588,394 15,256,753 23,855,777 33,495,901 57,369,540 162,956,697 181,861,471 157,867,180 70,396,614 36,914,698

2023 32,326,040 17,078,293 22,911,263 43,812,778 61,544,693 137,311,567 215,518,673 148,053,622 79,777,957 35,908,020 18,220,059 13,534,535

2022 32,129,068 17,071,361 22,897,441 45,219,347 67,998,385 136,993,703 203,794,691 142,641,161 73,185,366 43,568,138 18,554,321 10,195,045

2021 22,515,577 16,833,409 28,050,784 39,424,885 71,629,217 127,947,319 159,994,974 158,280,320 73,112,498 43,787,109 11,394,032 18,096,294

2020 8,223,680 6,788,236 3,538,436 715,316 28,192,673 103,467,906 152,256,684 139,737,864 63,775,711 41,364,509 17,053,031 11,266,628

Occupancy Collections

October          2.80%

CYTD          -4.87%



$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

$70,000,000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

2024 11,179,366 12,929,929 19,422,840 26,222,012 39,078,063 57,344,840 64,106,859 57,116,087 40,124,326 30,027,178

2023 15,014,241 12,282,779 19,052,221 29,882,256 37,191,059 53,653,158 62,371,753 54,381,491 39,511,303 30,360,180 19,332,007 15,703,818

2022 10,601,001 13,854,379 17,964,701 29,762,315 35,766,126 49,188,354 61,144,299 52,469,499 39,658,009 18,866,693 28,176,947 14,853,412

2021 10,669,210 9,647,064 17,851,725 26,101,925 36,273,162 48,603,545 55,983,285 45,615,512 38,713,169 29,131,584 17,621,266 15,637,654

2020 9,567,693 9,280,396 7,466,202 3,749,728 14,079,809 35,377,812 37,531,226 34,686,508 31,758,793 22,495,453 16,322,421 10,519,542

Meals Collections

October  -1.10% 

CYTD        1.09%



















































Marketing Dashboard

FY 24/25 Diff. % Change

17,003 6,034 55%

Completed Video Views 19,334,479 3,719,806 24%

Website Sessions 1,987,065 335,822 20%

Online Communities

Email Subscribers 101,930 -4,215 -4%

Facebook 712,000 -5,000 -1%

X (Twitter) 40,246 -725 -2%

Instagram 131,902 1,227 1%

Pinterest 23,600 100 0%

TikTok 107,100 15,000 16%

Online Communities Subtotal 1,116,778 6,387 1%

1,651,243

thru November 2024

Trackable Guide (Print - Virtual)

FY 23/24

10,969

15,614,673

23,500

1,110,391

106,145

717,000

40,971

130,675

92,100

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



Executive Summary

Key Messaging:
• OBX Promise #3
• 12 Bars of Christmas
• Secotan Market
• Birding on The OBX

Performance Overview:
• Increased costs across platforms during the election and holiday season have contributed to slight underperformance across impressions, traffic, and engagements in comparison to projected 

goal. These cost increases were anticipated by intentionally decreasing the spend in November and December. Costs are expected to decrease in the new year when budget is set to ramp up 
around heavy promotion of the 2025 Travel Guide. 

Next Steps & Recommendations:
• New tactic for OBX promise, using a natural beauty aesthetic video with text overlay to encourage engagement. Additionally, test weaving the promise text into ongoing content messaging. 
• With several fans asking about Cape Hatteras Lighthouse restoration progress, add a visual progress report in February content.
• Teasing and promotion of “The Outer Edge” will kick off in January 2025.
• January 2025 Travel Guide ad will heavily focus on “new 2025” messaging. 

Drive Awareness
KPI: Impressions

Drive Intent
KPI: Website Sessions Referred by Social Sources

Performance As Of: Nov 2024 Nov 2023 Base Goal Stretch Goal Performance As Of: Nov 2024 Nov 2023 Base Goal Stretch Goal
Current Month 1,774,496 1,607,418 1,362,759 2,044,139 Current Month 5,636 12,401 11,302 16,953

Cumulative Fiscal 16,148,176 19,941,606 17,407,973 26,111,959 Cumulative Fiscal 106,083 96,511 108,558 162,837
Cumulative % To Target 81% 93% 62% Cumulative % To Target 110% 98% 65%

Engage
KPI: Likes, Comments, Shares, Saves/Favorites, Video Views, Link Clicks, Media Clicks

Convert
KPI: Mini-Guide Requests, Physical Guide Requests, Guide PDF Downloads, eNews Sign-Ups

Performance As Of: Nov 2024 Nov 2023 Base Goal Stretch Goal Performance As Of: Nov 2024 Nov 2023 Base Goal Stretch Goal
Current Month 501,329 364,493 386,564 579,846 Current Month 574 381 546 873

Cumulative Fiscal 3,647,403 4,907,958 4,302,084 6,453,126 Cumulative Fiscal 5,910 5,796 5,341 8,545
Cumulative % To Target 74% 85% 57% Cumulative % To Target 102% 111% 69%

11



OBX Social Performance FY15/16 – FY23/24

Strategy 
Shift

Strategy 
Shift

Strategy 
Shift

Ignite Starts 
11/16

Ignite Starts 
11/16

Ignite Starts 
11/16

Pandemic

Pandemic

Pandemic

H1: July – December
H2: January - July

Strategy 
Shift

Ignite Starts 
11/16

Pandemic

FY2425 data pictured below represents July 2024 – September 2024

12



Engage - Community Growth
Highlights:
• TikTok experienced a

significant jump in new
followers, likely attributed to
the newest half-season drop
of the OBX Netflix show.

13



Connect M-o-M

14



Connect [Cumulative Performance]

15



Drive Intent

From the 5.6K socially-referred website sessions, visitors reached listing details over 
190 times, were referred to partner pages 135 times, requested the physical Travel 
Guide 49 times, and signed up for the eNewsletter 52 times, downloaded the Travel 
Guide pdf 87 times.

16



Drive Intent [Cumulative Performance]

17



Engage

18



Engage [Cumulative Performance]

19



Convert

20



Convert [Cumulative Performance]

21



    DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 

     COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT REPORT   

     DECEMBER 19, 2024 
 

 

Outer Banks Long-Range Tourism Management Plan (LRTMP) 
The next Dare County Tourism Board Special Committee meeting for the Outer Banks Long-Range Tourism 

Management Plan (LRTMP) will be held on Wednesday, January 8, 2025 at 9:00 am at the Outer Banks 

Visitors Bureau administrative offices in Manteo. 

 
OBVB Receives NCTIA Tourism Achievement Gold 

Award for The Outer Banks Promise 

The Outer Banks Visitors Bureau was recognized with 

a Tourism Achievement Award in the Community 

Stakeholder Communication category for The Outer 

Banks Promise destination pledge at the 2024 North 

Carolina Travel Industry Association (NCTIA) Annual 

Leadership Conference in Durham, NC. These awards 

celebrate innovation, best practices, creativity and 

the results accomplished through marketing efforts. 

 

 

The Outer Banks Promise 

Partner Spotlight: Twiddy & Co.  

Twiddy & Co.’s Guest Services 

and Owner Services teams 

recently gathered at the 

company’s Duck office to 

collectively make The Outer 

Banks Promise after several staff 

members recently learned 

about the destination pledge at 

the OBX Tourism Summit. We 

encourage other area 

businesses, groups and 

associations to share their 

commitment to enhancing stewardship in our community. To learn more, contact Jeff Schwartzenberg, 

Community Engagement Manager, at community@outerbanks.org.   

 

              

https://nctia.travel/Awards
https://nctia.travel/Awards
https://www.outerbanks.org/plan-your-trip/beaches/outer-banks-promise/
https://www.outerbanks.org/plan-your-trip/beaches/outer-banks-promise/
mailto:community@outerbanks.org
https://nctia.travel/Awards


    

Destination Stewardship and 

Responsible Tourism the Focus of 

Outdoor NC Workshop 
Outdoor NC recently held its annual Trail 

Town Stewardship Partner Workshop in 

Raleigh, where they shared their plans for 

2025 and covered various aspects of 

destination stewardship, responsible 

tourism, outdoor recreation and 

accessibility. The Outer Banks was one of 

15 destinations included in Outdoor NC’s 

Trail Town Stewardship pilot program in 

2024 and was featured in the inaugural 

North Carolina Trail Town Guide. At the 

workshop, the Outer Banks Visitors Bureau was asked to share an update on various stewardship and 

community engagement initiatives in Dare County, including the Outer Banks Long-Range Tourism 

Management Plan, the Outer Banks Promise and voluntourism. 

 

 

A Look Ahead: Q1 2025 Community Engagement and Stakeholder Outreach 

January 8, 2025 – LRTMP Special Committee Meeting (9:00am, OBVB Administrative Offices) 

January 8-10, 2025 – ‘The Outer Edge’ Premieres (Kill Devil Hills, Manteo, Buxton) 

January 10, 2025 – Outer Banks Association of Realtors Podcast (The Outer Banks Promise) 

Q1 2025 – Tourism Town Halls (in collaboration with East Carolina University) 

Q1 2025 – Resident Sentiment Survey 

Q1 2025 – State of Dare County Tourism Report (communication and distribution) 

Q1 2025 – Outer Banks Restaurant Association Meeting (The Outer Banks Promise) 

Feb/Mar 2025 – TourismNext: OBX Student Summit (in collaboration with Dare County Schools) 

February 18-20, 2025 – Partnership and Community Engagement Forum – Cincinnati, OH 

 

https://outdoornc.com/
https://outdoornc.com/trail-town-guide/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/
https://www.outerbanks.org/plan-your-trip/beaches/outer-banks-promise/
https://www.outerbanks.org/voluntourism/


 

 

Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 
 

PUBLIC RELATIONS REPORT: December 2024 
  
PRESS RELEASES 
 
Celebrate OBXmas: A Coastal Holiday Experience on North Carolina’s Outer Banks  
(Nov 25, 2024) OBXmas: Gather your family along the Outer Banks, North Carolina to celebrate 
the Holidays in a most memorable way. https://prn.to/4fbsRuP 
 
New Wave Of Boutique Hotels Enhances Outer Banks Lodging Landscape  
(Dec 11, 2024) Early 2025, visitors can book their hotel stays directly from the Outer Banks 
official tourism website outerbanks.org https://prn.to/3D6H8Ma 

  
PRESS TRIPS 
 
Vanessa Infanzon | Mar 2025 Vanessa writes for SouthPark Magazine in Charlotte, among 
others. Aaron is working with her for an Outer Banks press visit to check out new hotel product 
and offerings for travelers to the OBX next spring.  

 
EARNED MEDIA 
 
Knoxville News | Nov 2024 “Find Ghosts, History And Wide-Open Beaches In Coastal North 
Carolina. Aaron worked with writer Linda Lange for an in-market visit to research this article. The 
Outer Banks were featured in the Knoxville News Sentinel article which appeared in the 
newspaper’s Sunday print edition as well as online, highlighted a range of attractions from state 
parks and historic sites to wild horses and lighthouses. With a reach of more than 1.7 million unique 
monthly visitors, the digital post included a well-annotated gallery with 17 images. The paper’s print 
circulation is about 19,000. https://bit.ly/49zJPln 
 
OUTERBANKS.ORG/BLOG 
 
Eating Healthy On The OBX: Low-Sugar, Gluten-Free, Vegan and More Aaron worked with 
writer Cheryl Rodewig on some strategic blog content identifying healthy eating and culinary 
considerations regarding individual preferences that lives on the Bureau’s site outerbanks.org/blog 
https://bit.ly/3DaGvkG  
 
Where To See Flowers On The Outer Banks  Aaron worked with writer Cheryl Rodewig on some 
strategic blog content identifying places to pause and enjoy flowers, from the Elizabethan Gardens 
to Island Farm to the Dare County Arboretum and Teaching Garden. We engaged Cheryl for stories 
written custom for the Bureau’s site outerbanks.org/blog https://bit.ly/3OTNUYd 

 
MEDIA EVENTS 
 
Visit NC | Nov 19 Aaron joined Visit NC's PR team and 33 other destination partners from across 
the state at Visit NC's annual in-state media mission. The event, held at Missy Lane’s Assembly 
Room in Durham, drew about 40 in-state, regional and national correspondents along with well-
regarded digital influencers and content creators. 
 
International Media Marketplace (IMM) North America | Jan 21-24, 2025 Hosted by TravMedia, 
IMM is the first major marketplace of the year connecting public relations professionals with 
traditional journalists and social media influencers for an exchange of what’s new in our 
destinations with what trends the media is looking for to share with their audiences. 
















	Dec Cover
	Agenda December 19th 2024
	Minutes November 21 2024
	Budget & Finance Report 
	Occupancy Chart
	Meals Chart
	B1
	B2
	B3

	Dashboard
	November24 Dashboard 1
	HY DEC Report
	Ignite Report Dec Packet
	Slide 1: Executive Summary
	Slide 2: OBX Social Performance FY15/16 – FY23/24
	Slide 3: Engage - Community Growth
	Slide 4: Connect M-o-M
	Slide 5: Connect [Cumulative Performance]
	Slide 6: Drive Intent
	Slide 7: Drive Intent [Cumulative Performance]
	Slide 8: Engage
	Slide 9: Engage [Cumulative Performance]
	Slide 10: Convert
	Slide 11: Convert [Cumulative Performance]


	Community Engagement
	OBX Project PR Dec
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 1.57.36 PM
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 1.58.04 PM
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 1.59.47 PM
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 2.00.19 PM
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 4.12.03 PM
	Screenshot 2024-12-11 at 4.09.31 PM

	Personnel Policy Update



